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This book is dedicated to the likes of Matthew Flinders – the heroes of maritime history. These exceptionally brave explorers sailed into the unknown where, through daring, determination and great skill, they completed the map of the world.
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Author’s Note

Today we are in awe of the idea that astronauts will, in the near future, take to the heavens and spend years exploring the moon or Mars. How will they cope with being away from the sanctuary of Earth for so long? And what of the dangers they will face? So much could go wrong.

Now, step back more than 200 years, into the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, and consider a somewhat similar scenario. This time, though, the mode of transport is a stout-looking, wooden sailing ship just 100 feet long and carrying 80 or more seafarers, which is launched on a voyage of exploration into what is truly the unknown. Unlike today’s astronauts, these remarkably brave Argonauts held only a vague notion of where they were headed and what they might find. They sailed on the whim of the wind, and from the moment their ship went beyond the horizon they were gone, possibly forever.

These explorers took with them little support material in the form of charts and maps, and only the most basic of navigation equipment. Except for a small cutter or gig lashed to the deck, they had no safety equipment as we know it, and there were no instant communications with home should anything go wrong in a world where an uncharted reef was the nautical equivalent of a rogue asteroid in outer space. Should fair winds and favour be with these adventurers, they would reappear on the horizon after some years, often with exciting news of a new frontier. Alternatively, should the ship be overwhelmed by the boiling fury of a storm-lashed sea or smashed to splinters on a reef or rock, taking all hands with it, the world would have one more maritime mystery to ponder.

Needless to say, the masters of these expeditions were a special breed – great seafarers and leaders of men who were relentless in their resolve to succeed. One such man was Matthew Flinders, the brilliant explorer who put the rudimentary outline of Terra Australis on the world map and strongly advocated for the continent to be named Australia. The challenges he faced demanded almost every skill imaginable – seafaring, navigation, dedication, cartography, leadership, compassion, fortitude and planning – and there are few, if any, other names that can stand alongside Flinders as Australia’s greatest explorer.

Matthew Flinders was a large cog in the mechanism that established early Australia. However, all too often, his substantial contribution via exploration, together with the circumstances of his lengthy incarceration by the French on Île-de-France, are not generally recognised. It is also disappointing to note that this great English navigator and explorer has received virtually no public recognition in his home country: no statue, plaque or other form of acknowledgement honouring his life exists in London. Sadder still, within 40 years of his death, his grave in St James’s Garden could no longer be found. His remains are now thought to lie under London’s Euston railway station, originally built in 1837.

Like so many great men of his era, Flinders was a modest man who never ventured into the area of self-promotion: while he named hundreds of headlands, bays, harbours and points of interest around the coast – including the Barrier Reef, which came through casual reference more than intent – he did not ascribe one placename to himself. The intention of this book is to pay high tribute to a stoic, determined and illustrious explorer. It is the story of an indomitable individual who, through unfortunate circumstance, was prevented from fulfilling his life’s mission of completing a more highly detailed map of the entire coastline of Australia.

I have written this factual story of an extraordinary man not as an historian, but as a storyteller with a passion for sailing and the sea – a writer whose maritime heritage dates back to the era of square-rigged ships. The story of Matthew Flinders leaves me convinced that he can rightfully be recognised as the third member of a remarkable triumvirate of seafarers and explorers – Cook, Bligh and Flinders.


CHAPTER ONE

Wreck Reefs

The large, tattered British blue ensign, flapping wildly in the strong breeze, was flying upside down for good reason. It was the internationally recognised signal for distress.

The scene around the salvaged topsail yard that carried the flag said it all. Eighty unkempt, sunburned and bearded men were scattered around the small, low-lying and treeless sand cay where the flag flew. Some were taking shelter from the strong south-easterly trade wind and the blistering tropical sun under makeshift tents formed by sails, while others were labouring on the construction of two somewhat crude-looking boats. There was another surprising oddity in the setting, too: a curious and intrepid black cat.

The reason for this desperate scene was apparent just a few hundred yards away: the skeletal remains of a ten-gun, 308-ton and 93-foot brig, HMS Porpoise. What was left of her was lying on a jagged coral reef amid turbulent white water. However, all evidence of the larger, full-rigged and armed cargo ship, Cato, which had been wrecked at the same time, was gone. Her timbers had proved no match for the pounding ocean swells, and within hours of her grounding there was little of her to be seen.

Porpoise and Cato were part of a three-ship convoy when they smashed onto the uncharted reef in the depths of darkness on Wednesday, 17 August 1803. At the time, their respective captains believed the vessels were on a safe course well wide of the dangers posed by the coral reef that stretched for hundreds of nautical miles along the adjacent coastline to the west, but a coral outcrop had ambushed them. It was part of a 13-nauticalmile-long mid-ocean blotch of reefs, islets and cays that had been lying in wait for unwary sailors at the surface of the Coral Sea for millions of years.

That afternoon, there had been an alert that there were uncharted reefs in the area. At around two o’clock, Cato was sailing some distance to leeward and astern of Porpoise when her captain signalled that land had been sighted. Porpoise, which was the faster ship, changed course to investigate, while signalling to Cato to hold her course and continue on. The sighting was confirmed by Porpoise’s crew – it was a dry sandbank. Its position was noted on a chart and given the name Cato’s Bank. That done, all possible sail was set on Porpoise so she could catch the other ships and again take up her station ahead of them.

By the time it did, the vessels were 35 nautical miles north of their discovery, and in that distance no other sightings of land had been made. Instead of heaving to for the night, it was decided to proceed with caution through the hours of darkness under reduced sail. There was a fresh south-easterly breeze blowing, so the call from Porpoise’s master was to double-reef the billowing topsails, in order to slow the ship while it held a course of north-by-west.

That evening, at eight o’clock, the lead line was again cast over the side, and it confirmed that Porpoise was in very deep water – more than 85 fathoms. But less than one hour later, the serenity suddenly became mayhem.

‘Breakers ahead!’ was the panicked call from Porpoise’s lookout, a seasoned old salt who had been peering into the darkness from a position on top of the forecastle. An even greater sense of urgency came when the same call was made by the master of the watch, who was standing on the quarterdeck: they were on the brink of disaster.

The helmsman, who until then had been enjoying his evening trick at the wheel, responded in an instant, putting the helm hard down, his intention being to dramatically change course and tack the ship so that disaster could be avoided. But with so little sail set, Porpoise was slow to respond: she went into irons, near head-to-wind with her sails either aback or flapping, and virtually stopped.

On hearing the commotion, the captain, Lieutenant Robert Fowler, rushed onto the deck. His immediate thought was that a tiller rope had carried away and caused Porpoise to go out of control, a failure that was not uncommon on a ship. But the panicked look on the helmsman’s face and a concerned comment from the master confirmed that things were far worse. Terror-laden eyes peered into the darkness to leeward and saw ghostly white breakers a mere quarter of a cable length away – only 50 yards! That was the distance between shipwreck and salvation, and the ship was making more leeway than headway. There was no question: Porpoise was doomed.

A noted landscape artist of the era, William Westall, was aboard Porpoise. He later wrote:


We were all assembled in the cabin, when I suddenly heard the crew in great confusion, and hurrying on deck, behold breakers on our larboard bow. The coral reef showed itself in a long line of foam, seen indistinctly through the approaching gloom of the night. When the ship struck, one general groan resounded throughout, for not a possibility appeared that anyone could be saved.




Less than a minute after the warning call came, a mighty swell picked up the ship and smashed her onto the reef with brutal force. From that moment the fight was over: Porpoise was mortally wounded, her hull planks already being gouged to pulp by the coral. The next wave rolled her onto her port side, then two more mighty jolts brought the thundering sound of splintering timber as the foremast went crashing over the side and the hull was breached.

Regardless of the immediate danger the ship’s men faced, it was imperative to fire a cannon and warn the following ships of the danger. But the shuddering violence that came with each subsequent wave, combined with the amount of surf that was crashing over the vessel, made this impossible.

Clinging to whatever they could reach, those aboard Porpoise watched in horror as, minutes later and only two cable-lengths away, Cato met a fate even worse than theirs. Dark as it was, they could see her silhouette as she was driven onto the reef with horrendous force; she immediately capsized. Her masts disappeared in seconds.

Fortunately, Porpoise had capsized with her deck downwind and away from the hammering waves, but Cato had fallen the other way and was far more vulnerable to punishment from the seas. In no time, every structure on deck was being torn asunder by the booming waves. For those aboard Porpoise, it appeared that death and destruction had come to Cato in one mighty blow. Only daylight would confirm it.

But what of Bridgewater, the third ship in the convoy? She was a 750-ton cargo vessel sailing under the flag of the East India Company, en route to Batavia then India. A crewman aboard Porpoise pointed into the darkness and shouted that he could see the shimmering light of Bridgewater’s masthead lantern in the distance. Yes, Bridgewater had avoided disaster. That could only mean she would sail back to the reef at first light and take aboard all the survivors.

At least, that is what those aboard Porpoise believed would happen.

The reef that had claimed the two ships was extremely remote – it was in the Coral Sea, 140 nautical miles east of the southern end of the Barrier Reef, and 250 nautical miles off the northern coast of the landmass known as ‘New Holland’ or ‘Terra Australis’. In very recent times, however, it was occasionally being referred to as ‘Australia’.

The man proposing most strongly that it should be named Australia had, only weeks earlier, been lauded in Sydney Town for his remarkable achievement in becoming the first explorer and navigator to circumnavigate the great landmass – and he was aboard Porpoise. Commander Matthew Flinders, then aged 29, was sailing home from Port Jackson to England as a passenger, having captained the 100-foot sloop-of-war, HMS Investigator, on the voyage of exploration and in doing so proven New Holland was a continent. Less than halfway through that voyage Investigator had become a leaky tub so Flinders had no option but to expedite his return to Sydney Town, in Port Jackson, where the vessel was subsequently deemed unseaworthy. Now, he was sailing home aboard Porpoise with other members of his crew, including his brother, Lieutenant Samuel Flinders. Also making the journey was Flinders’ feline friend, Trim, a black cat with a daub of white on his chest and four white paws.

The trip had promised to be even more pleasurable for Flinders because Lieutenant Fowler had sailed with him aboard Investigator, serving as his first lieutenant during Flinders’ epic voyage around Australia. Fowler had subsequently been appointed to command Porpoise by the infant colony’s third governor, Philip Gidley King, a man who, not surprisingly, was extremely impressed by Flinders’ pioneering exploration of the continent’s coastline.

Now, with Porpoise and Cato wrecked and Flinders being the most senior naval officer among all aboard the two ships, it was his duty to stand alongside Lieutenant Fowler and take command of the situation.

Flinders had been away from England for more than two years and was returning home to present the Admiralty with an impressive collection of charts, logs and books, which described in great detail the outstanding discoveries he had made during his voyage around Australia, and during other exploratory excursions out of Sydney Town. His Majesty’s Royal Botanic Gardens in Kew would also be a beneficiary on his return: it would be the recipient of hundreds of plants gathered during the voyage of Investigator. They had been potted and stored in a purpose-built greenhouse on Porpoise’s quarterdeck.

These achievements promised to be very satisfying for a young man who was already enjoying an outstanding naval career, but there was one other, far more exciting reason for his return: he would be reunited with his loving wife, Ann. They had been married more than two years earlier but had spent little more than three months together before Flinders was directed by the Admiralty to sail for Sydney and explore new regions.

For Flinders, that directive to survey the waters around the continent was even applicable to his voyage home aboard Porpoise, as he explained in his later book, A Voyage to Terra Australis:


The examination of Torres Strait was one of the most important articles of my instructions which had been executed only in part; and although I could not pretend to make any regular survey in the Porpoise, it was yet desirable to pass again through the strait, and lay down as many more of its dangers as circumstances would admit.




Torres Strait crowns Cape York, the large peninsula forming the north-east corner of Australia; the cape had been named by Captain Cook in 1770 in honour of the deceased brother of King George III, Prince Edward, Duke of York and Albany. Flinders was all too aware of the dangers the strait’s reef-strewn waters presented to navigators. He had already experienced two passages through it, one aboard Investigator and the other in 1792, when he was a lieutenant aboard HMS Providence, under the command of Captain William Bligh. Flinders also knew that, should he be able to chart an easily navigable passage, significant benefits would be enjoyed by all vessels. A safe course through Torres Strait would save around six weeks on a voyage from Port Jackson to India, when compared with the alternative – sailing around the northern coast of New Guinea.

Accordingly, prior to Porpoise’s departure from Port Jackson in company with Bridgewater and Cato, Governor King delivered a memorandum to Lieutenant Fowler. It read in part:


The objects which captain Flinders will have to finish in his route through Torres Strait, requires that he should be assisted with boats, people, and have the entire direction of the ship as to the courses she is to steer … You are therefore further required to comply with every direction he may give you, to enable him to execute the orders of my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty.




That directive was now irrelevant. With Porpoise beyond salvage, Torres Strait – 1000 nautical miles to the north – was the most distant thing from Flinders’ mind. His priority was to save lives aboard his ship and Cato – if there were any survivors.

Being heeled towards the reef meant Porpoise’s hull created a lee where the impact of wind and waves was minimised, even though the waves were bursting over it, so Flinders – in consultation with Fowler – ordered that the ship’s boats, which were lashed on deck, be launched as lifeboats. A small four-oared gig was successfully launched, but the larger cutter was stove in and flooded when sudden wave action washed her into debris from the damaged ship, so the procedure was stopped. They could not afford to lose any support boats.

Flinders and Fowler also had to consider how long it might be before the lightly constructed ship began breaking up as a result of the constant pounding from the waves. They decided that the best way to prolong the life of Porpoise was to lighten her, and that this should happen post haste, even though it was still dark. Their hope was that the hull would be pushed further onto the reef and become more stable. Fowler called for the rigging to be let go so that the main and mizzen masts could be chopped down. At the same time, the heavy iron starboard anchor was dumped onto the reef.

Flinders was standing high on the sloping deck observing these activities and trying to establish the outline of the reef around them. While doing so, he came up with a worrying theory. If the hulk was made light enough to move across the coral, and if stormier seas arrived, the ship might be washed all the way to the other side, which he could just make out in the distance, and sink into the depths of the ocean. The plan to lighten ship was instantly abandoned.

Flinders was aware that the waters on the downwind side of the reef were calm enough for Bridgewater’s rescue boats to approach in safety and pick up the survivors. He could see the glimmer of Bridgewater’s masthead lantern not far away, which could only mean that Captain Palmer was standing by and preparing to mount a rescue attempt as soon as the conditions allowed. It was, therefore, imperative that all possible information regarding the condition of the ships and the men, and the safest approach to the wrecks, be conveyed to Bridgewater. Flinders knew that ‘something speedily’ needed to be done to save the men; after consulting with Fowler, he took it upon himself to board the gig and be transported into the night and towards Bridgewater. He later wrote:


The boat being obliged to lie at a little distance from the ship, to prevent being stove, I jumped over-board and swam to her; and we pushed through the breakers to the smooth water, receiving two or three surfs by the way, from which we hardly escaped sinking. On examining into the condition of the boat, I found nothing to bail out the water … and instead of the proper crew of four men, there were only three [plus] the armourer, a cook, and a marine, who did not know how to handle an oar. These last were set to bailing with their hats and shoes, and we rowed towards Bridgewater’s light, keeping under the lee of the breakers.




Before long, Flinders realised that his effort was destined to be fruitless: they were struggling to make headway, and the chances were that Bridgewater would soon tack, sail further away and be impossible to reach. Reluctantly, he pushed the tiller across and turned the gig back to the smoother water in the lee of the reef, the whereabouts of which could be identified by the blue lights shining from lanterns that were burning aboard Porpoise. This was being done both as a guide for Flinders and to signal to Bridgewater that there were survivors.


I determined to remain under the lee of the breakers until [Bridgewater] should approach, and to lie near the Porpoise in case of her going to pieces before morning, we might save some of the people.

I wished to have got on board the ship to let them know of the boats being safe and what we had discovered of the reef; but the breakers between us, and the darkness of the night cut off all hope of communication before morning. They burned blue lights every half hour, as a guide to the Bridgewater; but her light was no longer seen after two in the morning. At that time it appeared to be low water, and the ship lay so much more quiet than before, that the apprehension of her going to pieces before daylight had much subsided; to be prepared, however, for the next flood, Mr. Fowler employed his people during the night in making a raft of the spare top masts, yards, etc., with short ropes all round it, by which the people might hold on; and a cask of water, with a chest containing some provisions, a sextant, and the Investigator’s log books, were secured upon the raft.




It was another cold, wet and miserable seven hours for those aboard the gig before first light arrived, a period made all the more difficult by their uncertainty about the loss of life aboard Cato, which by then was all but broken up, and about the whereabouts and fate of Bridgewater, the lights of which had not come back into view. As it was, just before Cato smashed onto the reef Bridgewater had gone frighteningly close to colliding with her. This came when both ships were executing unnerving manoeuvres in desperate bids to avoid being wrecked; had there been a collision, there was no doubt there would be three ships lying decimated on the reef.

While Flinders was in the gig and standing off in the lee of the reef, there was added drama aboard the now heavily heeled Porpoise. A candle had fallen from its holder below deck and started a fire, and for a short time it appeared that those on board would more likely burn to death than drown. It was only through quick action by the crew that the flames were doused.

Even without the threat of fire, it had already been an exhausting evening for all on board, as Westall explained:


During the dreadful scene, after the first confusion had subsided, all was coolness and prompt obedience. Many though drenched with the sea, and exhausted with fatigue, would only accept with moderation the spirits served out to recruit their strength.




The men aboard the gig had a near-sleepless night. Flinders spent much of the time contemplating the magnitude and consequences of the events that had occurred. Ultimately, he accepted that no plans for rescue could be based on the assumption that Bridgewater remained safe at sea, and that she would come to their aid:


My thoughts were principally occupied in devising plans for saving ourselves, under the apprehension that we might see no more of the Bridgewater; but not to discourage the people, I spoke of everybody getting on board that ship in the morning, and of continuing our voyage to England. Of the poor Cato, we could neither see nor hear anything.




It would later be learned that Cato had struck the point of a ledge of rock-hard coral, which was like the corner of a plateau, the face of which descended vertically to the ocean floor. The impact was so great that the ship’s forward sections literally burst open and the hull was engulfed by a raging torrent of water. In no time, Cato was capsizing to windward. With her decks exposed to the explosive power of the waves, she was being smashed to pieces.

Inevitably, the ship was soon threatening to break in two, so those on board rushed to the only relatively safe place – the foredeck – and crowded behind whatever they could for protection from the waves. Before long, they were facing annihilation and the only spot to hide was behind the forecastle. Should that break apart, it would be every man for himself.

When first light eased its way into the new day, what was left of Cato came into view for those aboard Porpoise. There was little more to be seen than the outline of the bowsprit, which was pointing skyward. As the day continued to emerge, survivors could be seen waving – but how many had survived would not be known for some time.

Flinders had, by then, decided that there was enough daylight for him to safely guide the gig across the shallow but surging waters that covered the reef and return to Porpoise. Unbeknown to him, he and his men had been given up for dead by the crew of Porpoise.


At the first dawning of day, I got on board the Porpoise by the help of the fallen masts. Everybody was in good spirits at seeing the ship hold together so well, and finding the boats safe; for the gig, with all in her, had been given up for lost, someone having thought he saw her sink in the breakers.




As Flinders was helped back aboard, an observation was made that eased everyone’s fears somewhat. Nature had provided a lifeboat of sorts – a chance to survive – in the form of a barren sand cay. It lay within an achievable distance from the location of the wrecks, and plans were immediately initiated to move people there:


With the daylight appeared a dry sand bank, not more than half a mile distant, sufficiently large to receive us all with what provisions might be got out of the ship; and the satisfaction arising from this discovery was increased by the Bridgewater being perceived under sail, and though distant, that she was standing towards the reef. On the other side, the appearance of the poor Cato, with the people waving to us from the bowsprit and fore castle, the only parts above water, was truly distressing.




While Fowler coordinated the assembly of water and provisions on deck, Flinders returned to the gig and was rowed to the cay so he could assess what it offered. With Bridgewater returning and appearing certain to anchor in the lee of the reef, Flinders planned to go aboard ‘and point out to Captain Palmer the means by which he might take on board the two crews and what else might be saved’.

To Flinders’ horror, however, and to the shock and disbelief of all, Bridgewater was seen to tack and then sail away from them, eventually fading into the haze on the northern horizon. It was as if Palmer was taunting the damned. Surely he knew there were survivors – lanterns had been lit throughout the night to indicate that – and surely he or his subordinates must have confirmed through the use of looking glasses that there was activity on both ships.

While the shipwrecked sailors watched Bridgewater leave, Flinders returned his mind to the precautionary thought he had while in the gig overnight: what could be done if Bridgewater was wrecked and could not return to rescue them? His fear was rapidly evolving into reality.

Flinders’ first priority, though, was to get a boat to Cato and convey its men to Porpoise, but it was to be an effort burdened with danger – and death. With the surf still raging, Porpoise’s cutter was unable to get alongside the shattered ship, so for Captain Park there was only one alternative:


Captain Park and his men, throwing themselves into the water with any pieces of spar or plank they could find, swam to her through the breakers; and were then taken to the Porpoise where they received food and some clothing. Several were bruised against the coral rocks, and three young lads were drowned. One of these poor boys, who, in the three or four voyages he had made to sea, had been each time shipwrecked, had bewailed himself through the night as the persecuted Jonas who carried misfortune wherever he went. He launched himself upon a broken spar with his captain; but having lost his hold in the breakers, was not seen afterwards.




By nightfall, all the men and as much water and provisions as possible had been transferred to the sand cay, including the fresh meat supplies that the ships carried – ‘the pigs and sheep that had escaped drowning’, as Flinders wrote. Much to his pleasure, Trim had also survived the night of mayhem and waited dutifully aboard Porpoise for his master to take him to shore.

The initial task for the first group to reach the sandbank was to take a salvaged topsail yard and set it up on the highest point of land; then they hoisted ‘a large blue ensign … to it with the union downward, as a signal to the Bridgewater’. This was done because the survivors simply could not believe that Bridgewater had deliberately abandoned them; she had sailed away while waiting for better wind and sea conditions to develop, they felt sure, so that a full-scale rescue effort could be mounted in safety. While Flinders, too, wanted to believe this, he thought it more prudent to ‘act as if we had no such resource’. It was a theory that would prove to be well-founded, as he later described.


Captain Palmer had even then abandoned us to our fate, and was, at the moment, steering away for Batavia, without having made any effort to give us assistance. He saw the wrecks, as also the sand bank, on the morning after our disaster, and must have known that the reef was not all connected … He bore away round all; and whilst the two hapless vessels were still visible from the mast head, passed the leeward extremity of the reef, and hove to for the night. The apprehension of danger to himself must then have ceased; but he neither attempted to work up in the smooth water, nor sent any of his boats to see whether some unfortunate individuals were not clinging to the wrecks, whom he might snatch from the sharks or save from a more lingering death.




Incredibly, it was later confirmed that Captain Palmer – although he suspected that there were survivors – had decided, in a cowardly and callous act, to abandon the crews of both Porpoise and Cato; on his arrival in India, he declared that both ships and all hands were lost. An account of his claims appeared in the Calcutta Orphan newspaper on 3 February 1804. In this article, Palmer admitted seeing the wrecks – although he had confused one ship for the other – but prefaced his reasons for not rendering assistance and sailing on with these words: ‘Finding we could not weather the reef, and that it was too late had it been in our power to give any assistance; and still fearing that we might be embayed or entangled by the supposed chain or patches …’. Palmer never mentioned the sandbank that became the sanctuary for the shipwrecked sailors.

Flinders later obtained a copy of a journal written by Bridgewater’s third mate, Mr Williams, and it was damning of the captain.


At half past seven a.m. (Aug. 18) saw the reef on our weather bow, and from the mast head we saw the two ships, and to leeward of them a sand bank. The weather abated much, we set all our sails, and every man rejoiced that they should have it in their power to assist their unfortunate companions; as there was every probability of our going within two miles of the reef. The morning threatened; but before the wind increased we had time to satisfy ourselves if there were any still in existence; we had nothing to apprehend but what could be seen before we approached so near. The ships were very distinctly to be seen from aloft, and also from the deck; but instead of rendering them any succour, the captain ordered the ship to be put on the other tack, and said it was impossible to render them any relief. What must be the sensations of each man at that instant? Instead of proceeding to the support of our unfortunate companions, to leave them to the mercy of the waves, without knowing whether they were in existence, or had perished! From the appearance of the wrecks, there was every probability of their existing; and if any survived at the time we were within sight, what must have been their sensations on seeing all their anxious expectations of relief blasted.

Until our arrival at Bombay, nothing particular occurred, except my being sent on shore at Tellicherry [on India’s west coast] with the account of the loss of the Porpoise and Cato; an account that served for the moment to blind the people. In executing this service, I did, for the first time to my knowledge, neglect my duty, and gave a contrary account; but for this reason – I was convinced that the crews of those ships were on the reefs, and that this was an erroneous account made by Captain Palmer to excuse his own conduct. I left it on shore for the perusal of the inhabitants, after relating the story as contrary as possible. This was the cause of many words; and at length ended with my quitting the ship, and forfeiting my wages and a part of my clothes.




Flinders realised that Cato’s Captain Park had actually saved Bridgewater from meeting the same fate as the other ships: he had bravely and unselfishly taken action to avoid a collision with Bridgewater, and that gave the big ship enough sea-room to sail clear of the reef.

Bridgewater subsequently disappeared with all hands, having departed Bombay. Flinders commented somewhat sardonically that ‘Captain Palmer and the Bridgewater, who left Bombay for Europe, have not been heard of, now for many years. How dreadful must have been his reflections at the time his ship was going down!’ He added: ‘Lieutenant Tucker of the navy, who was first officer of the Bridgewater, and several others as well as Mr Williams, had happily quitted the ship in India.’

Various tasks were allocated to individuals and groups of men when they reached the safety of the sand cay that first afternoon; one of those tasks unearthed a maritime mystery that remains unsolved to this day. The men sent in search of driftwood washed up on the shore discovered, to their amazement, the worm-riddled and weather-beaten timbers of another wreck. It was obviously a sternpost from a large ship, and calculations made by the master of Porpoise, John Aiken, showed that it was from a vessel of around 400 tons – one-third larger than Porpoise. This led Flinders to suggest that they had found wreckage from one of the two French expedition ships – La Boussle and L’Astrolabe – that had departed Botany Bay, south of Sydney Town, on 10 March 1788 under the leadership of Jean-François de Galaup, Comte de Lapérouse, and were never seen again.

However, the wrecks of both these ships were later found on reefs in the Santa Cruz Islands, so the origin of the sternpost on the cay remains unknown. There have been suggestions that it came from an American whaler, as they were known to have operated in that part of the Pacific in the second half of the eighteenth century. Searches in recent times have found no evidence of an unknown wreck on the fringes of what is now known as Wreck Reefs. At the time, though, the castaways of Porpoise and Cato weren’t concerned with history: they had found an excellent piece of firewood that would burn for days.

Still uncertain whether or not they had been left for dead by Bridgewater, the sailors faced more adversity during the first night they were ashore. Porpoise’s two cutters and the gig had been hauled up the sand cay and secured at a point where they were above the obvious high-water mark, but when the men awoke the next morning the gig was gone. It had not been properly secured, and a high tide had floated it off the cay, claiming an irreplaceable asset.

That same morning, some of the men hoped they would wake to see Bridgewater nearby, but it wasn’t. They expressed great concern that it, too, had been lost on a nearby reef; as seafarers, they could not accept that Captain Palmer had left them for dead.

With the two crews living as one on the cay, along with many of the crew of Investigator, who had sailed as passengers, it was paramount that a level of authority and discipline be established to ensure that their chances of survival and rescue were maximised. As the most senior officer, and with the support of Lieutenant Fowler and Captain Park, Flinders took charge. From then on, it was as if they were aboard a landlocked ship.

By 23 August Cato was ‘a few scattered fragments’, but Porpoise remained mostly intact due to the relatively benign weather. Yet Flinders knew all too well that a tropical storm could easily tear the wreck asunder, so it was imperative that her timber carcass was emptied of the things most important to survival as quickly as possible. When the salvaged items had reached the beach and been listed, it was confirmed that there was sufficient water and provisions to support the 94 survivors for three months at full allowance. All the sails, rigging and spars that could be recovered were also brought ashore.

Under the circumstances, it was a satisfying situation and the hopes everyone held that they would escape this tiny patch of sand seemed justified. But Flinders was disappointed about the state of his own valued treasures:


My books, charts, and papers had suffered much damage, from the top of the cabin being displaced when the mizzen mast fell; all such papers as chanced to be loose on the night of the shipwreck were then washed away by the surfs, and amongst them a chart of the west side of the Gulf of Carpentaria and part of the North Coast, upon which I had been occupied in the afternoon. Part of my small library shared the same fate; but the rest of the charts, with my log and bearing books and astronomical observations were all saved, though some of them in a wet and shattered state. The rare plants collected on different parts of the south, the east, and north coasts of Terra Australis, for His Majesty’s botanic garden at Kew, and which were in a flourishing state before the shipwreck, were totally destroyed by the salt water; as were the dried specimens of plants.




The cay that was their lifeline was in the middle of what Flinders had already named Wreck Reefs, which he calculated was between five and six miles in circumference. At low tide it was approximately 300 yards by 100 yards, and its highest point was between two and three feet above the average high-water mark. Fortunately, the reef formed a protective bastion that dissipated the swells as they crossed the coral and surged towards the cay. However, when the wind and seas were up, the men were continually peppered by salt spray; this explained the absence of vegetation on the cay, except for ‘a few diminutive salt plants’.

The stores that had been salvaged were placed in a tent made from spars and sails. The same materials were also used to create tents for each mess of officers and men. Still, it was the yard that carried the inverted ensign that dominated the scene. It would soon have another use as well.


One of the men whose liberty governor King had granted at my request, being guilty of disorderly conduct, the articles of war were publicly read, and the man punished at the flag staff. This example served to correct any evil disposition, if such existed; the men worked cordially together, and in all respects we preserved the same discipline and order as on board His Majesty’s ships.




With everyone having now abandoned all thoughts of salvation coming from the return of Bridgewater, Flinders called a meeting of the officers to consider every conceivable means of escape ‘from the precarious situation in which our misfortune, and captain Palmer’s want of energy and humanity, had left us exposed’. The eventual conclusion was that there were two options open to them: one was for an officer and crew to man the larger of the two six-oared cutters and attempt the dangerous passage of more than 700 nautical miles to the nearest centre of civilisation, Port Jackson; once there, they could arrange with Governor King for a vessel or vessels to rescue the men. The alternative plan was precautionary, in case the cutter was lost while sailing to Sydney – which was highly possible at that time of year:


… it was resolved that two decked boats, capable of transporting every person remaining on the bank, except one officer and boat’s crew, should be immediately laid down by the carpenters, to be built from what was already and might be still further saved from the wreck; and that, if the officer in the cutter did not return with assistance in two months, the boats should then, or as soon after as they could be ready to sail, proceed to Port Jackson.




As an extension of the latter plan, it was also decided that the second, smaller cutter – along with an officer, a second officer and a boat’s crew – should remain at the sand cay, in case it were necessary for the two boats that were being built to set sail for Port Jackson. That crew would be responsible for Flinders’ charts and books, remaining under orders from him to wait ‘a few weeks longer than the two months; and then go to Port Jackson also, should no vessel arrive before that time’. Flinders explained: ‘This precaution was necessary, lest any unforeseen occurrence should delay my return to the bank beyond two months, though not prevent it altogether; that the charts, journals, and papers might still be found there, to be taken on to England if wanted.’

It was no surprise when Fowler proposed that Flinders – the one man in their group who, through his extensive exploration, held an intimate knowledge of the east coast of Australia – should captain the large cutter on its voyage to Sydney. It was also agreed that Captain Park should be the second officer aboard the cutter, and that two crews of six capable oarsmen be selected so they could rotate between rowing and rest periods whenever the boat was not under sail. With a total of 14 men aboard, plus supplies, the cutter would be overloaded and would have considerably reduced freeboard, but Flinders believed that the cutter’s ability to make the journey more swiftly outweighed its chances of being swamped by large waves.

Even so, Flinders was apprehensive. His experiences along this sometimes rugged coast left him in no doubt that the voyage would be perilous, even for a man of his ability. They would cross an often unforgiving ocean, where there were few places to hide from storms; in fact, if a storm should arise on the first stage, there would be absolutely nowhere they could find shelter. This would be an open ocean passage of 60 leagues – 180 nautical miles – to a place he knew well, Sandy Cape, the northernmost point of the world’s largest sand island, Fraser Island. He had sailed past this island in 1799, and had landed near the cape in 1802.

Once the coast had been achieved, however, the tough times could well be just beginning. In gentle or following winds the cutter would make good speed, with the assistance of sail and the south-flowing coastal current, which often ran like a river at up to two knots. But Flinders also knew that this same current could create insurmountable conditions should one of the frequent blusterous storms rampage out of the south: a strong wind opposing a strong current would create breaking seas that could easily erase from existence a small and vulnerable vessel like the cutter.

During these considerations, Flinders’ mind would no doubt have harked back to the lengthy discussions he had enjoyed with Captain William Bligh aboard HMS Providence, during Bligh’s second mission to transfer breadfruit plants from Tahiti to the West Indies. Bligh was a legend in the Royal Navy, and with the British public, all because of the mutiny aboard his previous ship, HMS Bounty. After the ship was overrun by its rebel crew, Bligh and his loyalists had been forced to board an open 23-foot launch in mid-ocean, and were left for dead. Inevitably, Bligh would have explained to Flinders and others that he could well have tried to cross the Tasman Sea, from where they were drifting aimlessly near Tonga, and endeavour to reach Port Jackson, but such a passage would almost certainly have delivered fatal consequences: the tempestuous Tasman spared no one when it was in its foulest moods and could easily have claimed the launch and all 18 men on board. Instead, Bligh opted for an incredible 3600 nautical mile course to Timor – a 47-day voyage that stands to this day as the greatest feat of seafaring and survival in maritime history.

Flinders realised that he was in a somewhat similar situation to Bligh’s: an open boat of slightly greater length (around 29 feet) and a considerable complement of men – 14 in all. The big difference was that he had no option but to take on the Tasman, and he stepped up to the challenge like a man who knew no other way. If he had one twinge of disappointment, it was that there was no place for Trim in the crew. He would have to wait with the others on the sand cay.

Nine days after Porpoise and Cato had plunged onto Wreck Reefs, the cutter had been thoroughly checked and prepared for its epic undertaking. It was given a name: Hope. At eight o’clock on the morning of 26 August, everything was in readiness. Hope was ready to go, with three weeks of supplies aboard. But while this mission was critical to the survival of all 94 men, many of the well-weathered seafarers who were staying behind were actually discouraging their leader from departing: it was a Friday, and one of the more powerful superstitions among mariners is that you never set sail on that day. Friday was seen as symbolising death: it was the day of the week on which Christ had been crucified.

Regardless of this, all 14 men boarded the cutter without hesitation. Once the bow was turned towards its initial course, to the west, the men onshore gave three rousing cheers for Flinders, Hope and her crew, and this gesture was returned with great passion. Simultaneous to the departure, a barefoot sailor sprinted to the spar flying the ensign, which still had the canton carrying the union in the lower corner. He hauled it down and immediately re-hoisted it right-way-up. This action was not lost on Flinders: ‘This symbolic expression of contempt for the Bridgewater and of confidence in the success of our voyage, I did not see without lively emotion.’

It was a day of clear skies, a light breeze from the south and smooth seas. The men who had been steadying Hope in the water released her, and she pulled away from the beach to the sound of cheering and waving. It wasn’t long before the gentle thud of timber that came each time the men pulled on the oars had faded into silence. Those left behind willed Flinders and his crew fair winds and smooth seas as they watched the cutter’s outline, by then with sails set, become a mere speck on a wide expanse of ocean, before it evaporated into the horizon, headed towards a fate that might never be known.

As it would turn out, Flinders’ long-yearned-for reunion with his wife, Ann, which he still hoped was just months away, would not happen for another six tormenting years.


CHAPTER TWO

Cook, Bligh and Flinders

Perhaps incongruously, Matthew Flinders’ life was set on a clearly defined course by a fictional character in one of the world’s best-known adventure books and was subsequently influenced by two of the most acclaimed master mariners of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.

As a young boy, Flinders devoured every one of the near 110,000 words in Daniel Defoe’s Robinson Crusoe, an exciting, adventure-laced tome first published in 1719. The story of the sole survivor from a ship that foundered in a savage storm in 1659, it is sometimes considered to be the world’s first true work of fiction. After his shipwreck, Robinson Crusoe made his way to the shore of a deserted island, where he remained marooned for many years. The book’s colourful 65-word original title was virtually an abridged version of the story. It read in part: ‘The Life and Strange Surprizing Adventures of Robinson Crusoe, of York, Mariner: Who lived Eight and Twenty years, all alone in an un-inhabited Island’.

Typically of the era, the publication was not divided into chapters, so it was seemingly endless, breathtaking reading for the young lad. The turn of every page accelerated his desire for the excitement that came with sailing beyond distant horizons and on to unknown foreign shores. The young Matthew Flinders wanted to be Robinson Crusoe.

As he progressed through his early teenage years, his desire for sea-borne adventure did not diminish, so he chose the one obvious career path available to him. In 1789, when aged 15, his name first appeared on the books of the Royal Navy.

As Flinders later explained, he did this against the wishes of family and friends. In particular, his father, a highly respected doctor, was very much opposed to it; he wanted his son to tread the family path. However, the lure of adventure on the high seas was far stronger than human bonds. Later in life, Flinders would confirm the influence that Robinson Crusoe had had on him: ‘I burned to have adventures of my own. I felt as I read that there was born within my heart the ambition to distinguish myself by some important discovery.’ Indeed, there were some eerie similarities between Flinders’ and Crusoe’s lives. A paragraph in Defoe’s book described Crusoe going against his father’s desire for him not to go to sea:


Being the third son of the family, and not bred to any trade, my head began to be filled very early with rambling thoughts. My father, who was very ancient, had given me a competent share of learning, as far as house education and a country free school generally goes, and designed me for the law; but I would be satisfied with nothing but going to sea, and my inclination to this led me so strongly against the will, nay, the commands of my father, and against all the entreaties and persuasions of my mother and other friends, that there seemed to be something fatal in that propension of nature tending directly to the life of misery which was to befall me.




In the decades ahead, Flinders’ achievements would come through a life of challenge, daring and adventure that was not dissimilar to that experienced by his fictional hero. In reality, though, he became such a successful seafarer, explorer and cartographer that history would see him as part of an illustrious triumvirate, the other two members being Captain James Cook and Captain William Bligh.

The common thread linking this trio of exceptional mariners was the famous naturalist and patron of science Sir Joseph Banks, a man whose great influence in English society extended through to King George III. Banks, who was with Cook on HMS Endeavour in 1770, on the first British voyage of discovery into the South Pacific, was the president of what is today the world’s oldest scientific organisation, the Royal Society, from 1778 to 1820. When in 1775 he became aware of the 21-year-old Bligh’s emerging talents as a seafarer and cartographer, Banks recommended him to Cook as sailing master aboard HMS Resolution for what would be Cook’s third and final voyage into the Pacific. Then, in 1793, after Flinders sailed as a midshipman with Bligh aboard Providence on its successful voyage to Tahiti, it came to Banks’ attention that Flinders was emerging as a man of similar ilk to Cook and Bligh. This would eventually lead to Banks recommending to the Admiralty and the King in late 1800 that Flinders be given command of a ship so that he could circumnavigate New Holland and explore its entire coastline.

The proposal for this expedition came just 12 years after the King and the British parliament had acceded to Banks’s suggestion and established a penal colony at Port Jackson in New South Wales, the territory claimed for Britain by Cook in 1770. Banks had noted:


We have now occupied the country of New South Wales more than ten years, and so much has the discovery of the interior been neglected that no one article has hitherto been discovered … It is impossible to conceive that such a body of land, as large as all Europe, does not produce vast rivers capable of being navigated into the heart of the interior …




Banks wanted Flinders to search for those mighty rivers along the coastline of this newly claimed British outpost, and Flinders could not have asked for a better commission. It was one that would present him with all the challenges and excitement that his childhood ambitions had sought.

His life’s journey had its genesis in a small and somewhat insignificant market town named Donington, in the midst of the swampy and foggy (but by then primarily drained) Fenlands of Lincolnshire. This centuries-old town was located about 100 miles directly north of London, and was a ten-mile horse ride inland from the black mud shores of the Wash, a large, square-shaped bay on England’s east coast that opens to the North Sea.

The man who would become Donington’s most famous son was born on 16 March 1774 to Mathew and Susannah Flinders. The family home was a modest dwelling on the edge of the town’s market square. A small surgery stood as an extension on one side of the residence, and it was here that Flinders senior practised as a doctor; in fact, he was a third-generation doctor in the town. Not surprisingly, it was expected from the outset that young Matthew would study law or enter the medical profession and succeed his father in the family practice.

The origin of the Flinders lineage in England almost certainly dates back to the very early years of the twelfth century, when, as an article on the history of the region in the Holinshed’s Chronicle in 1807 confirmed, a major part of Flanders, on the opposite side of the North Sea, was ‘being drowned by an exudation or breaking in of the sea, [and] a great number of Flemings came into the country, beseeching the King to have some void place assigned them, wherein they might inhabit’.

The majority of those who fled the flood and migrated to England moved into the middle counties, and as they were from Flanders it is easy to understand how the name Flinders emerged into the local society. For that reason, it is highly likely that Matthew Flinders’ family tree was firmly planted in the Donington region centuries earlier.

Matthew is known to have had several sisters and brothers. The diaries of his father, Dr Mathew Flinders, reveal that the first of Matthew’s sisters, Elizabeth, was born on 24 September 1775. John (Jackey) Flinders, born 28 September 1776, lived for only six weeks. Sister Susannah was born 22 May 1779 and another brother, again named John, was born two years later – 5 April 1781 (he is believed to have been committed to a mental asylum at age 19). Samuel, born 3 November 1782, went on to join his eldest brother in the Royal Navy. The doctor’s diaries also reveal that at least four other children (two sets of twins) were born and died within 24 hours of birth. Matthew’s mother, Sussanah, died aged 31, when Matthew was just nine years old. Dr Flinders subsequently remarried and as a result Matthew had two stepsisters, Hannah and Henrietta.

Matthew displayed a remarkably fertile and inquisitive mind at a very young age, especially when it came to the unknown in the world of nature. One day, he disappeared from his home for some hours; only after anxious scouting was he found, wading in one of the shallow marshes nearby. He had a pocket full of pebbles – his ‘instruments’ – which he dropped into the flowing water at selected points so he could watch the flow of the current and discover the source of the water.

Flinders commenced his schooling at Donington Free School, an institution founded in 1701 by the philanthropist Thomas Cowley so that the children of local families facing financial hardship could learn to read and write. After some years it became a fully fledged school, yet through to Flinders’ time it remained free for all children to attend.

At the age of 12, Flinders moved on to the nearby Horbling Grammar School, and it was there that one teacher, Reverend John Shingler, had a significant influence on his education. It was through Shingler’s efforts – which Flinders would recognise later in life – that he excelled in reading, writing and mathematics, all subjects that would greatly assist his rise through the ranks of the navy. In particular, it was his ability to master mathematics that allowed him to teach himself the essential science for maritime explorers: navigation.

Flinders was always aware that his deep desire to join the navy would one day clash with the plans his parents had long held for him. As his mother had by then passed away, he knew he faced a difficult confrontation with his father – one that he was in no hurry to have. Instead, the teenager came up with another strategy for presenting his case. His father had a slate hanging on the back of a door in the surgery – a type of eighteenth-century diary, on which he wrote himself reminders about patients and appointments – and Matthew would leave messages on it for his father to read, all relating to his passion for a seafaring life.

The youngster also believed that his uncle, John Flinders, who was in the navy, would support him when it came to the unavoidable discussion with his father, so he wrote to him asking for guidance. Unfortunately, Uncle John was of little help: he had been in the navy for 11 years and was still waiting to achieve the rank of lieutenant. Because of this, his comments to his nephew were little short of damning. For him, favouritism almost always overrode talent within the navy.

John Flinders’ letter, however, did tender one piece of practical advice: he suggested that, should Matthew remain determined to pursue a career under sail, he should study several valuable works: Euclid’s Elements, a mathematical and geometrical thesis written by the Greek mathematician around 300 BC, along with two other publications dealing with navigation. For Matthew, this suggestion far outweighed his uncle’s negative comments, so the 13-year-old set about finding and buying the books and applying himself to a year of solid study at home. (His uncle waited another two years for a posting as a lieutenant. When it came, it was with HMS Cygnet in the West Indies, but a severe bout of yellow fever claimed his life soon after.)

By the end of these 12 months of study, the self-taught Matthew had acquired a remarkable knowledge of the subjects that would matter most to his career. He was now 14, and inevitably, while studying at home, he would have learned of Captain Cook’s much-heralded discovery in 1770 of the coast of what could well prove to be the ‘Great South Land’. He would also have been aware that the famous explorer had subsequently been murdered by natives in the Sandwich Islands (now Hawaii) in 1779, a year after he became the first European to visit them. News of his death would not reach England for another two years.

While confident that his studies had prepared him well for a naval career, Flinders realised that his knowledge and enthusiasm would not necessarily secure him an entrance into the navy. A direct link, particularly through family ties, to a senior officer who could nominate him for service was far more likely to win him a position, but there were no such opportunities immediately available to this lad from rural Donington.

However, as fate would have it, a circuitous link soon presented itself. A cousin, Henrietta Flinders, was employed as a governess for the family of the commander of HMS Scipio, Captain Thomas Pasley, and she was aware of Matthew’s determination to join the navy. She mentioned her cousin’s ambitions to the captain, who was immediately impressed by the thought of a 15-year-old who was apparently gaining a wealth of knowledge without the benefit of a tutor. He was so impressed, in fact, that he asked to meet Matthew so he could decide for himself if he had the mettle to make a sailor.

The meeting at Pasley’s residence turned out to be as embarrassing as it was encouraging for the aspiring seafarer. Such was the rapport he enjoyed with Captain Pasley and his family that he was invited to stay the night, and he accepted the offer without hesitation, even though he did not have a nightshirt with him. That concern was quickly allayed when he went to his room and found that his hosts had, very considerately, placed night attire on the bed for him. He took the nightshirt and put it on, only to realise that he had made a terrible mistake – he was wearing a young woman’s nightdress, one featuring frills, lace and ribbon. It turned out that the captain’s daughter, who had given up her bed for the guest, had forgotten to take her nightdress from the room. At breakfast the next morning, Matthew was the source of considerable mirth as, somewhat embarrassed, he related what he had done.

Regardless of his faux pas, Flinders had left a good impression on Captain Pasley, because within weeks – on 23 October 1789, to be precise – he had arranged for Matthew to be placed on the naval register as a lieutenant’s servant for HMS Alert, a two-masted, 14-gun brig-sloop.

From the moment he set foot on the ship’s deck, he was in an almost overwhelming new world. His eyes and mind were full of wonder as he tried to absorb his surrounds: the height of the masts and complexities of the rig. He scanned the deck and did his best to understand which feature played what role in the operation of the ship. It was an awe-inspiring moment for a 15-year-old from the English countryside.

This initial stage of his naval apprenticeship lasted seven months. Then, in May 1790, Pasley’s influence emerged once more. The captain now held no doubt that his initial faith in the young man was justified, so he had Flinders join his crew aboard Scipio, which was lying at the Royal Navy Dockyard at Chatham, in the River Medway, east of London.

Scipio was a 64-gun third-rate ship of the line, a design considered to be the best configuration for modern-day battle: fast and manoeuvrable under sail and well-armed, with cannons mounted on two decks – an impressive step up from Alert.

Sailing under Pasley’s command would prove to be invaluable for Flinders. He would ‘learn the ropes’ on deck and, through hands-on experience, put into practice the knowledge he had gained through his home studies. Again he must have impressed, because his Pasley-assisted progress continued. The following year, when the captain was transferred to the command of the 74-gun third-rate ship of the line, HMS Bellerophon, he asked Flinders to join his crew as a midshipman.

This was a move to a ‘real’ ship for Flinders. Launched only four years earlier, Bellerophon – known as Billy Ruffian or Ruff’n by her crew – would become one of the most famous fighting ships in the Royal Navy. Her war record included the Battle of the Nile and the Battle of Trafalgar. On 15 July 1815, she would come to great prominence when Napoleon Bonaparte, who had appointed himself Emperor of the French in 1804, was escorted as a defeated man onto her main deck, where he surrendered to Captain Frederick Maitland. This was in the aftermath of the Battle of Waterloo, when the Emperor had been forced into submission after 25,000 of his men were killed or wounded and another 8000 taken prisoner. Napoleon had planned to escape France by sea to the United States but was intercepted by Bellerophon. Following his surrender to Maitland, Napoleon was held aboard the ship for three weeks, before being sent into exile at Saint Helena, where he died six years later.

When Flinders joined Bellerophon in 1790 he was just 16, and his youthful exuberance had him wanting to cross oceans and touch foreign shores. He was ready for high adventure but it wouldn’t materialise in the short term. While recognising that he was learning much by being aboard Bellerophon and under the tutelage of a well-recognised master, the lack of actual sea time made him feel as though his career was marking time. This belief was compounded when he was suddenly transferred to a 64-gun ship, HMS Dictator, which was not likely to be going anywhere soon.

However, although Flinders didn’t know it, it appears that this move had been made simply to protect the continuity of his time in service. It is possible that his superiors had transferred him in order to enhance his chances of promotion, as they considered that the young man held the potential to be a true leader. He was in a holding pattern, but not for long.

Much to Flinders’ delight, the frustration he had harboured for months disappeared very quickly: he was advised that he had been posted to Providence. It was a move that would bring him everything he wanted. It meant he would soon be heading offshore to a destination on which fantasies were created: the tropical paradise of Tahiti in the South Pacific. Equally satisfying was the knowledge that his captain would be none other than William Bligh, a national hero in England, and a man whose vast experience as a commander, navigator, cartographer, seafarer and explorer would bring a sizeable benefit to Flinders’ own career.

Flinders knew, of course, that Bligh had lost his ship, Bounty, to 21 mutinous crewmembers after it had departed Tahiti in April 1789. It was bound for the West Indies, where the more than 1000 breadfruit plants that it carried would be unloaded and then cultivated, so they could provide cheap food for the slave population of the islands.

The consequences of the mutiny had brought hero status to Bligh right across English society. This even extended to the King, whom he had been honoured to meet. During the overthrow, the mutineers had had the opportunity to kill Bligh and the 22 men who remained loyal to him; instead, the leader of the uprising, Fletcher Christian, showed a modicum of remorse by allowing the captain and 18 of his supporters to board a small and completely open launch mid-ocean.

For Christian and his bunch of rogues, this was, in reality, little more than another way of taunting Bligh and his men: they could be seen to be giving their former shipmates a fighting chance of survival, but deep down they knew that this chance was next to nothing. There is no doubt that they fully expected Bligh and his men to succumb to the elements soon after the launch was cast adrift.

With the 19 men aboard, plus a miserly amount of provisions, the launch was grossly overloaded and in immediate danger of capsizing: the freeboard, which represented the distance between safety and sinking – the measurement between the gunwale and the surface of the sea – was less than a couple of hand-spans.

Christian’s plans were to see Bounty, himself and the mutineers also disappear, but theirs would be a well-contrived and deliberate exit. They intended first to return to the romantic charms of the hazel-skinned, barely clad beauties they had come to love on the shores of Tahiti’s Matavai Bay, and eventually to a new life on a remote and rocky outcrop virtually unknown to the outside world: Pitcairn Island.

Yet the mutineers did not take into consideration Bligh’s remarkable seafaring and navigational skills, and the never-say-die determination that was held by all aboard the launch. Bligh rallied his men and managed to reach the small island of Tofua, which lay 30 nautical miles north-east of the location of the mutiny. For four days they tried to find food and water, before finding themselves surrounded by several hundred intimidating islanders, who left no doubt that they saw the Englishmen as invaders and were determined to slaughter them there on the rugged and rocky beach. In a manner for which the English are renowned, Bligh – who had just four cutlasses for defence – did the only thing he could: he all but ignored the threat, and with a stiff upper lip and a focus that was nothing but forward, he moved his men to the launch, which was anchored in shallow water just a few yards away from the shore. They rowed away, but not before one man was stoned to death in an horrific and bloody scene on the beach.

Those aboard the launch looked back in horror, knowing they could do nothing to help their comrade: they had to make good their escape. Bligh called on those at the oars to straighten their backs and pull as hard as they could. The islanders weren’t done yet: some piled rocks aboard their canoes and set off in pursuit of the Englishmen, whose overladen launch was labouring through the ocean swells. Inevitably, the swiftness of the canoes soon allowed them to surround the launch, whose occupants were bombarded with stones. It was only through Bligh’s presence of mind, which allowed him to orchestrate a remarkable escape, that he and his men survived.

It was evident to the Englishmen that they were traversing a part of the world where cold-blooded killers, and possibly cannibals, were resident on the islands. They knew that, if they wanted to have any chance of seeing Mother England again, they could not safely go ashore anywhere in the region.

Bligh put it to the men that there was just one strategy to be considered. Having sailed with Captain Cook, he knew that there was a European settlement somewhere in Timor, to the north of New Holland, and it represented their only chance for salvation. It meant they would have to attempt an extremely perilous voyage of more than 3600 nautical miles across an always threatening ocean that could claim their launch at any moment. There was no doubt that they would face storms, calms and unforgiving seas, and accordingly they had to accept there was little in favour of them achieving their goal. Additionally, apart from the considerable dangers they faced from the elements, they had only very basic navigational equipment available to them – they didn’t even have charts. They would also have to find their way through the bastion of coral reefs that lined the northern coast of New Holland, but before they got there they might be confronted by starvation, dehydration and fatigue. Beyond that, swamping, capsize or equipment failure could quickly and easily end their days.

These were odds no man would ever want to face, but Bligh and his men knew it was Timor or termination. After a brief discussion, the men universally agreed that their decision was obvious, and with that they turned the launch’s bow towards the setting sun and on a course that would take them into the unknown.

Forty-seven days later, 18 emaciated men saw Kupang, Timor, come into view. They had survived 3618 punishing nautical miles. Much of the time had seen them battling gales and life-threatening seas, and they were constantly bailing water. Their food was generally rationed to one and a half ounces of bread and a quarter-pint of water – about a cupful – per man, per day. The little cured pork they had was treated as an occasional delicacy, while most of the alcohol was used in small quantities to help men who were losing their grip on life.

Little wonder, then, that when Bligh returned to England on 15 March 1790 and word spread of the mutiny and his remarkable voyage to liberation, he was lauded by King and commoner alike.

Now Matthew Flinders was to sail as a lieutenant with the great man – a true master mariner. Maritime history was being written; the trio of great mariners and explorers that would be hailed in later centuries was about to be formed: Cook, Bligh and Flinders. Cook was the grand master, Bligh the diligent and dedicated young sailing master who thrived on every lesson Cook passed down, while Flinders would benefit greatly from both. All three would hold some form of affiliation with maritime exploration in Australia, and with the establishment of the British colony there.

Right then, though, a very excited young Matthew Flinders could not gather his slops soon enough. He packed and headed for Deptford, where the recently launched 107-foot sloop-of-war, Providence, was being fitted out under Bligh’s direction.


CHAPTER THREE

To Paradise with Bligh

Flinders probably travelled to the dockyard at Deptford aboard a naval pinnace or launch, although he could have gone by a horse-drawn coach. If he did, he would have traversed the rolling green hills and farmlands on the outskirts of the village before the coach turned into Butt Lane and arrived at the sprawling facility that stood boldly on the banks of the Thames, just four miles downstream from London.

It was 8 May 1791, and one can only imagine the adrenaline that was pumping through the veins of the 17-year-old as he tried to determine which three masts among the many he could see in the distance at the dock belonged to Providence. He would not have had to wait long to find out, because soon after entering the 30-acre site he would have been escorted through the maze of solidly built stone warehouses and workshops, then on to where his ship was moored. From there, it was only a steeply angled wooden plank leading to the ship’s main deck that remained between him and his first big ocean adventure, and it would have taken him just a few energetic strides to make that transition from shore to ship.
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